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E. Summary of Historic Contexts

Geographical Overview’

Cuba is located in the northwest quadrant of Benton Township, Crawford County, Missouri (Fig. 1).
The city occupies an area of three square miles (Fig. 2) and is located along historic Route 66, eight miles north

of the county seat of Steelville and 84 miles southwest of St. Louis.

To place Cuba into a geographic context, most typologies of the geographic regions and sub-regions of
Missouri place Crawford County within some variant of what Missourian and cultural geographer Carl O. Sauer
described as the Ozark Highland region. Sauer, considered by many to be the father of cultural geography,
served on the faculty of the University of California at Berkeley from the 1920s until his retirement in the
1950s.> He further divided the Ozark Highlands into provinces, and Crawford County lay mostly in the Courtois
Hills province, with only the northwest corner of the county in the southern extremity of the Missouri River
Border province. Curtis Fletcher Marbut, a geologist who joined the faculty of the University of Missouri in
1895, placed Crawford County on the Salem Platform, or Burlington Escarpment, which covered much of the
state south of the Missouri River. Arthur B. Cozzens’' geographical matrix was based on natural, geologic,
physiographic, and forest cover regions, which he combined as Natural regions, and he placed most of
Crawford County in the Osage-Gasconade-Meramec Hills Forest.” Most of these classification schemes relied
to some extent on land slope and topography, combined with other qualities including soil character, native
vegetation, and cultural features. Drawing and synthesizing from the above studies and others, James E.
Collier used Sauer’s designation, Courtois Hills, for the subdivision of the Ozark province that included most of

Crawford County. Collier maintained

' This Geographical Overview and portions of the balance of this document were drawn from the Survey Report for a 2007 Historic and
Architectural Survey of the City of Cuba, a full citation of which appears in the Bibliography.

“ Internet website http:/en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Carl O. Sauer, accessed June 15, 2012.

> hitp:/iwww.geog.missouri.edu/grad/history.html, accessed June 15, 2012,

* James E. Collier, "Geographic Regions of Missouri,” Annals of the Association of American Geographers, vol. 45

(December 1955): 368-371.
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it is the most hilly subdivision of the Ozark Province and, as a whole, the most
rugged area of Missouri. . . . The region is a maze of narrow, steep-sided,
chert-covered ridges, monotonous in their similarity and most of them
forested, chiefly with oaks.

In the beginning, forests covered more than 75 percent of the area, although the timber along the
steep hillsides and narrow ridges was small and of limited commercial value. In Cuba, these forests were
ultimately cleared for residential, commercial, and industrial development, and while rural farmsteads were
first built up with readily accessible materials such as field stones and logs, Cuba, as a railroad town, enjoyed a

wider repertoire of building materials.

Initially, farming was poorly developed and living conditions were equally poor, with most farms
operating at levels of subsistence or semi-subsistence. Corn was the principal crop, as it was for most of the
state, and cattle and hogs grazed on hillside and wooded pasture.® Earl W. Kersten Jr., in his study of the
economy of a portion of the Courtois Hills, attributed the “retarded economy” and “the long persistence of a
frontier or pseudo-frontier way of life” to the meagerness of the region’s natural resources and their rapid
exhaustion, rather than to the isolation of the region.” In later years, a successful poultry industry and the
development of apple orcharding provided something of a stimulus to the local economy but these, too,
eventually fell by the wayside due the rise of apple production outside Missouri and freak weather conditions

that decimated poultry.

In a five-county regional history published in 1888, the Goodspeed Publishing Company, a prolific
Chicago-based late nineteenth-century local history press, described Crawford County’s geographical
character as being “considerably varied.”® Cuba itself is essentially topographically flat and Goodspeed

describes the county as being tucked within two ranges of hills, one north of and mostly parallel to the

® Ibid., p. 389.

® Ibid.

v Ibid.; also Earl W. Kersten Jr., “Changing Economy and Landscape in a Missouri Ozarks Area,” Annals of the Association of American Geographers,
48 (1958): 416, 418,

8 History of Franklin, Jefferson, Washington, Crawford and Gasconade Counties, Missouri (Chicago: Goodspeed Publishing Company, 1888), p. 537.
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Meramec River and one south of the river, noting the county’s abundant streams to be among the area’s
leading natural resources, “where Nature’s power is going to waste for want of the proper enterprise and
civilization to harness them to the needs of man.”® For agricultural purposes, only the soils along the rivers
and streams were productive, while those on the higher slopes and ridges that made up the majority of the

"% In a region where prosperity was dependent upon agricultural

county’s lands were “thin and poor.
production, Crawford County’s position within this delicate geographical area accounted for a significant part

both in the successes and failures of the citizens and their respective communities.

With respect to the city itself, it is essentially flat and the original plat was laid out parallel to the
railroad which ran northeast-to-southwest. Subsequent additions/subdivisions ran more in a north-south

direction with comparatively few cross streets.

® Ibid., p. 538.
' 1bid,
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Historic Contexts

1. Early Settlement and Development in Cuba, 1821-1865
The earliest non-Native settler in what would become Crawford County is said to have been William
Harrison, who arrived in 1821. Eight years later, on January 23, 1829, the county was organized. Settlement
was slow and the 1830 Census recorded a population of only 1,721. Over the next two decades, however, the
population steadily increased, reaching 3,561 in 1840, and 6,397 in 1850. The 1860 Census recorded a
decrease to 5,834 although such population decreases in Missouri counties in the 1850s was likely due to a
revision of Missouri county boundaries with the creation of new counties. Correspondence from the State

Historic Preservation Office noted

While the Census may have recorded a decrease in Crawford County population
between 1850 and 1860, the 1860 population within the current boundaries of the
county was probably stable or greater than in 1850. The [1860] decrease likely
does not reflect people leaving the area, but the decrease in the county’s land area
during the period. Crawford County’s boundaries were redrawn twice in the
1850s, with a portion removed in 1851 for the formation of Dent County and the
removal of another section in 1857 when Phelps County was formed."

Unlike many counties in Missouri, particularly those in the southern portion of the state, the end of the Civil
War saw Crawford County grow to 7,982 in 1870. The advent of the railroad provided a significant impetus to
development throughout the county, particularly in the county’s largest town, Cuba; the community enjoyed a

steady population growth through the balance of the nineteenth century.

As early as 1837, new settlers arrived in the area that would become Cuba. Simpson's Prairie was the
name carried by the earliest settlement, bearing the name of pioneer James B. Simpson. Surveying for a rail
line occurred within two decades and in 1857, with the line of the Pacific Railroad, Southwest Branch

confirmed, M. W. Trask and William H. Ferguson surveyed the site that would become Cuba.'? The nearest

= Correspondence to the preparer from SHPO National Register Coordinator Tiffany Patterson, August, 2012,
" The Southwest Branch of the Pacific Railroad was chartered under a special Act of the Missouri Legislature in 1849. In 1866, it was acquired by the
Southwest Pacific Railroad, which, in turn, was sold to the South Pacific Railroad Company in1868. In 1870, this line was acquired by the Atlantic and
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established settlement was at Amanda, about one-half mile west of the Cuba site that consisted primarily of
the store and post office of George M. Jamison (1818-1873), a native Kentuckian.® In 1858, merchants
Robert and Mary Jamison, along with C. Wesley and Mary ASmith, filed the plat for Cuba; the plat was not

formally recorded until 1892.

The rationale behind this southeast Missouri town’s bearing the name of the Caribbean nation is not

known, although for obvious reasons, the local citizens are known as “Cubans.”

As originally surveyed, the new town of Cuba consisted of thirty-two blocks, 160" x 262’, with each
block except those blocks on Main Street containing four lots, 80’ x 130’ (Fig. 4). The Main Street blocks each
consisted of six lots measuring 30’ x 130’. Main Street was divided into North Main and South Main, with the
200’ right-of-way for the railroad dividing north from south. The other streets which also ran southeast-north
west were demarked according to their relationship to the tracks. Typical of railroad towns, the original plat
was not oriented in orthogonal directions, but in relationship to the railroad which in Cuba ran northeast-to-
southwest. As noted above, subsequent additions were laid out at an angle to the original plat to follow east-

west and north-south orthogonal lines (Fig. 3).

The original town plat also comprised of several southeast-northwest streets. Spencer and Washington
Streets were north of the railroad while Monroe and Myrtle Streets were south of the tracks. Moving from
west to east north of the tracks were Green, Hickory, Smith, Buchanan, Filmore (or Fillmore), Wall, Madison
Lane, Franklin, and Park Place. Those south of the tracks, also from west to east, were Phillips, Tyce, Evans,
Bond, Meramec, Prairie, Liberty, Canal, and Fleming Streets.

Cuba's early grid of streets consisted of a symmetrical plat, the arrangement of which was among the

earliest and most basic arrangements for railroad towns. In the Cuba plat, two business streets ran along each

Pacific Railroad Company and eight years later, the Missouri Division of the Atlantic and Pacific was sold to the St. Louis and San
Francisco Railroad Company, which was ultimately sold in 1915 to the St. Louis-San Francisco Railroad, which became universally
known as the Frisco line.

% U, 8. Census, 1860.
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side of the track, with their buildings facing each other and separated by the railroad and its right-of-way. The
vast majority of Cuba’s historic commercial development occurred north of the tracks (Fig. 5). Within and
immediately adjacent to the railroad right-of-way were railroad-related properties and a scattering of

businesses that depended on direct access to the railroad.

The first sale of lots in Cuba included only the eastern halves of the blocks along the railroad right-of-
way, with the remaining portions held in hopes of an increase in price as the prospects for the new town grew.
In 1859, the Pacific Railroad, Southwest Branch, was constructed through Cuba, and two years later it
extended to Rolla, where it would remain stalled until the conclusion of Civil War hostilities.** The railroad

also divided Cuba into two unofficial communities, North Cuba and South Cuba.

Prior to the advent of the railroad, early settlements often lay six to twelve miles apart, a distance

corresponding to a single day’s journey by a traveler who had to return home in the evening to care for farm
animals or family. Railroads characteristically established town-sites approximately every ten miles along their
lines, to encourage settlement and migration--and to sell town lots. While there were legislative efforts that
sought to limit the involvement of railroads in the self-serving development of towns, these efforts typically

resulted only in the railroad creating a shell company controlled by the railroad.”

Although Cuba’s original plat was smaller than many, the new town as it was originally surveyed was
not atypical of other towns of the era, be they corporate communities or private developments. Thomas
Harvey’'s study of railroad towns noted, “Original town plats, often of standardized design, imposed a
n16

framework for the future development of the towns and stamped indelible patterns on town morphology.

No evidence suggests that Cuba was the creation of the Pacific Railroad. That fact notwithstanding, in the

' James Ira Breuer, Crawford County and Cuba, Missouri, with a Supplement, Oak Grove School (Cape Girardeau, Missouri: Ramfre
Press, 1972), pp. 371-372, 375, and 385; also Goodspeed op. cit., pp. 592-593.

* Lewis Atherton, Main Street on the Middle Border (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1954), pp. 3-5.

" Thomas Harvey, “Railroad Towns: Urban Form on the Prairie,” Landscape 27 (1983), p. 26.
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case of corporate and private-sector plats alike, railroad towns represented significant capital investment and

the function of the towns, evidenced by their design with relationship to the railroad, was economic.”’

Development of the new town site moved at a relatively slow but steady pace. By the early part of
1860, only one log store and a railroad depot hinted at the progress of the new town. By the end of 1860,
however, the town had grown to contain four houses, constructed by George Monroe, Jamison, C. Wesley
Smith, Tyce Smith, and Isaac B. Tyler, along with two stores, one operated by C. Wesley Smith and the other
by George Jamison, the latter of whom also ran the post office, which, as noted above, he had previously
operated in the nearby settlement of Amanda.'® The 1860 census listed the occupation of most heads of
household in the fledgling community as farmers, interspersed with some day laborers. In addition to the two
merchants, Smith and Jamison, Pennsylvanian Jacob Trease (or Treece), was recorded as a forgeman; North

Carolinian M. A. Wright, appeared as a millwright, and native Missourian E.A. Pinnell, taught school."

Public education was of concern to the community’s founders, and the first school, a one-room log
schoolhouse (not extant) was erected in 1854 on North Smith Street. It burned and was replaced in 1870 by a
2-story L-shaped frame building which was lost to fire in 1904. In 1905 a contract was awarded to Rolla
builder W. J. Mitchell to erect a 2-story brick school with eight classrooms. With the advent of the
Depression-era public works programs, a 2-story stone annex was built adjacent to the 1905 schoolhouse,
accessed by an underground passage. With the completion of new school facilities in the late 1950s, the 1905

school was razed and the annex now serves as the county historical society’s museum.

During the nineteenth century five church congregations were founded in Cuba. The Presbyterian
congregation was established in 1866 and a church erected soon thereafter. The United Presbyterians
organized in 1871 and the Baptists in 1870. The Baptists at first rented the Presbyterian’s church for their

services but, feeling the rent to be excessive, they erected their own church in 1885; it served the

" Harvey, Op. Cit., pp. 26-27; and Hudson, pp. 41-43.
v Breuer.,Op. Cit., p. 381.
"9 Ibid., p. 458; and Goodspeed, Op. Cit., p. 592.
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congregation until 1950 when a new stone-finished church was erected. The local Methodist Episcopal Church
dates from 1872 and they, too, held services in the Presbyterian Church until 1885 when they erected their
own house of worship. In 1928, they acquired the J. M. Wallace House at 605 West Washington Avenue and
added a sanctuary to it (the sanctuary is not extant but the Wallace house remains). Cuba’s Holy Cross Roman
Catholic congregation pre-dates 1880, when services were held in private homes. In 1880 the congregation
built a frame church building which was destroyed in a storm and was replaced by a building which served
until the 1937 construction of a new stone building at 415 West School Street. The Roman Catholics also
established a parochial school which currently serves kindergarten through eighth grade. The St. Andrew’s
Episcopal congregation was organized in 1880, and, like some of the other faiths, rented space or held services
in parishioners’ homes until a house of worship could be built. In 1883 they built a frame church. Their church
building was used until the congregation dwindled and the building was rented to other congregations. St.
Paul’s Lutheran congregation dates from the twentieth century, having been organized in 1915. They built a
church in 1918 and for a short time operated a parochial school. They physically moved the church building
several times until a new church was built for the congregation in 1965. Other congregations in Cuba have
included the Church of Christ (est. 1961), Pentecostal Holiness (c. 1920), United Pentecostal (c. 1970), Church
of God (1960), Assembly of God (1962), and Bible Baptist (1969)

Returning to the history of the community, the Civil War significantly interrupted the development of
the community, as it did to most other towns on both sides of the conflict. At least two companies of the 63rd
Regiment, Enrolled Missouri Militia, were mustered in the area of Cuba. Company F was led by Captain James
C. Wheeling (1835-1892) who would later be an Associate Justice of the Crawford County Court. Company |
was under the leadership of Captain William H. Ferguson (1840-1892), who was one of the original surveyors

of the Cuba town site and would later be one of the organizing directors of the Bank of Cuba.”®

2 "Death of Judge Wheeling," Crawford County, Missouri, Newspaper Articles, n. p.; also J. I. Breuer, "History of Cuba's Founding Fathers, Crawford
Mirror, January 3, 1974, in J.I. Breuer Scrapbooks: Newspapers, 1976—1982, Miscellaneous clippings filed at the Crawford County Historical Society,
Cuba, Missouri.
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Cuba's advantageous position on the Southwest Branch of the Pacific Railroad drew the attention of
both the Federals and the Confederates. The railroad served both as transportation for federal troops and for
supply of materiel. Union forces were determined to protect the line, while the Confederates were
committed to the destruction of the tracks and disruption of shipping. Early in the war, Captain William H.

Ferguson’s Company | was assigned to guard the railroad.

Cuba suffered relatively little loss of property during the war, likely because there was very little
property to destroy in the new town. However, on September 29, 1864, during Price's Raid, Confederate
General John S. Marmaduke ordered the Fourth Regiment, Missouri Cavalry, under Colonel John Q. Burbridge,
and Wood's Battalion, commanded by Lt. Col. Robert C. Wood, to destroy the depot and rails at Cuba.
Burbridge and Wood burned the depot, Stephen Sweetin's store, and Upshaw's store, as well as four boxcars.
They also robbed James Pease's store and ripped up the tracks through Cuba. In 1928, justice of the Peace
W.H. Sweetin, who was about twelve years old in 1864, recalled, “One night they [the Confederates] advanced
on Cuba, built big bonfires on the track and the heat twisted the steel rails beyond repair. They also burnt the

depot and did all the damage to the fields that they could.””

The original town plat and the railroad are the only physical remnants of this early period of

development in Cuba.

Il. Railroads and Industry, 1866-1926

War’s end brought to Cuba its pre-War slow but generally steady development, measured primarily by
the coming and going of new businesses and industries. Beginning in early 1869 two iron ore mines were

opened nearby. The largest of these was the Scotia Iron Company, organized by a group of St. Louis investors,
2 Brig. Gen. John B. Clark, Jr., C.S. A. [commanding Marmaduke's division], The War of the Rebellion: a Compilation of the Official
Records of the Union and Confederate Armies, 128 vols. (Washington, D.C.: Government Printing Office, 1880-1901), and “Laid Rails
in 1860 at Cuba, Mo.,” Frisco Employee’s Magazine, vol. 6 (January 1929), p. 5.




United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section No. E Page 10 Historic and Architectural Resources of the City of Cuba, Missouri
Crawford County, Missouri

including John G. Scott who served as president and general manager.” The Scotia mined twenty-two tons of
iron a day and 2,300 tons in its first month of operation. Much of the ore produced by the Scotia mine and
twenty-two other mines in the area passed through Cuba by rail. The Scotia Iron Company operated only from
1870 to 1880, when the machinery was dismantled and moved to the Nova Scotia Iron Company in Dent
County.?®> The Scotia Iron Stacks that produced much of the company’s output of pig iron are extant and in

1969 were listed in the National Register of Historic Places.

Prior to 1893, Crawford County led the state in the production ot red and specular hematite, the latter
of which is a reflective silvery black variety of hematite. Between 1893 and 1910, production varied widely
ranging from a low of 1,040 tons in 1898 to a high of 44,931 tons in 1905. No fewer than two mines were
located near Cuba and their owners listed Cuba as their residence, although this could have referred to their
post office address. Operating at the same time, the Card Mine was owned by David Mcintosh and produced
3,000 tons of ore prior to 1892 and the Pinnel Mine, was owned by Bohemian-born Albert Bitza (1858- ?), and

* Residences associated with mine operators or miners have not

produced 350 tons of ore prior to 1892.
been indentified within Cuba but it is certain that Cuba served their commercial, recreational, and spiritual

needs.

In 1873, the St. Louis, Salem & Little Rock Railroad was completed from Cuba Junction to Salem, in

> The Cuba depot was relocated to the junction of the main and branch lines on North Main

Dent County.
across and just west of its intersection with Maclay. On May 12, 1877, Cuba was incorporated as a village and

with the 1880 Census its population neared 400.%°

* http://www.waymarking.com/waymarks/WM95A_Scotia_lron_Furnace, accessed June 23, 2012.
**C.D. Wilber, Mineral Wealth of Missouri: Two Lectures (St. Louis: E.J. Crandall, n.d.), p. 36; and "Iron and Steel Notes," Van
Nostrand's Eclectic Engineering Magazine 2 (January-June 1870), p. 321.
“ G.W. Crane, The Iron Ores of Missouri, v. 10, second series, Missouri Bureau of Geology and Mines (Jefferson City, MO: Hugh
Stephens Printing Co., 1912), pp. 9, 295, and 218.

® The St. Louis, Salem and Little Rock Railroad Company was chartered in Missouri in 1871, was sold to the St. Louis, Salem and
Arkansas Railroad in 1887 and in 1897, was acquired by the St. lLouis and San Francisco Railroad Company.

“"Cuba,” Gazetteer and Business Directory of the New Southwest (St. Louis, MO: United States Directory Publishing Company,

1881), n.p.
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The faces of hundreds of eighteenth- and nineteenth-century communities in Missouri and elsewhere
have been shaped by fire and Cuba was no different. Like most, Cuba was a town built primarily of wood,
subject to the threat of fire. The community experienced two such conflagrations, the first in 1878 and the
second eight years later. The earlier first began in Block 10, in Kessler’s Drug Store, spread to Block 11 and
destroyed the American House hotel, Gerkin’s Shoe Shop, Newman & Jones’s General Store, and all the
buildings on the east side of Smith Street and north of Main Street. The loss amounted to $35,000. On January
7, 1886, the second fire began in Block 10, in Smith’s Saloon, and destroyed an entire block, including Blair's
Saddlery Shop, the telephone office, and, for the second time, Newman & Jones’s General Store. The fire then
spread across Washington Avenue into Block 7. The estimated loss from this second fire was $20,000.” The

character of much of the downtown reflects construction after these disasters (Figs. 6, 13, 18).

Fraternal organizations were an important component of nineteenth- and early twentieth-century
social life, particularly in agrarian communities, and Cuba claimed its share of such groups. Most organizations
held their meetings in the upper floors of commercial buildings, such as 1886 Peoples Bank Building, still
standing at 600 West Washington Street. The Cuba Lodge, No. 270, Independent Order of Odd Fellows (IOOF)
was chartered in 1872, followed by the Star of the West Lodge, No. 282, Ancient Order of United Workmen
(AOUW) in 1883 and the Ivanhoe Encampment, No. 202, of the I.0.O.F. in 1887. In January 1885, Cuba Post,
No. 263, Grand Army of the Republic (GAR) was organized and in 1887, Cuba Lodge, No. 312, Antient (an
archaic spelling of “ancient”) and Free and Accepted Masons (A F & A M) obtained its charter. The Masons
initially met in a rented hall on the second floor of Newman & Jones’s general store.”® As noted above, this
particular store building fell twice to fire, a coincidence which may have contributed to the Masons’ 1940

decision to construct their own building—this one of stone--at the corner of Smith and Spencer Streets (Fig. 7).

Women, too participated in fraternal life in Cuba. The Order of the Eastern Star and the Rainbow Girls

met at the Masonic Lodge and the Rebekah Lodge, an auxiliary of the IOOF was organized in 1921.

“" Goodspeed, Op. Cit., pp. 593-594.
“ Ibid., 595-597.
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The community grew during the last decades of the nineteenth century.

Its level of retail

sophistication matched its population and the array of “no frills” businesses in the town is reflected in the

business directory published in 1881 by a St. Louis directory press:

Benton, H.E., saloon

Blair, I.J., harness maker

Clark, N.G., lawyer

Carns & Rost, saloon

Curtis, Samuel, constable

Denton, John S., livery stable

Denton, Rev. Jonas, Congregational Church
Dowley, John, proprietor Dowley House
Dowley, John, saloon

Dowley, M., blacksmith and wagon shop
Dowley, M.J., general store

Dowley, Michael, agricultural implements
Dressler, Charles, hardware, tin and stoves
Dunavy, Rev., Methodist Church

Evans, E.A., teacher

Evans, E.G., lawyer

Elvy, Thomas, proprietor Cuba House
Green & Wengler, general store

Green, John, physician and druggist
Hancock, Phil, barber

Hellyer, M.H., justice of the peace
Hardesty, N.J., physician

Hitch, C.R. agent St. L. & San Francisco Rwy.

and Adams Express Co.

Hollow, J.E., carpenter and builder
Jamison, F.M., lawyer

Jones, Lewis, blacksmith

Jestins, William, notions

Kinsey, Joseph, carpenter and builder
Lewis, S.H. [L.H.], blacksmith and wagon shop
Martin, Love E., teacher

Martin [Martyn], T.P., physician

Monro, A.M., agricultural implements
McCall, Lafayette, flouring and planing mill
Newman & Jones, general store

Parks, David, proprietor Parks’ House
Pinnell, E.A., lawyer

Phillips, Y.E., teacher

Robertson, G.S., general store

Rodgers, William restaurant

Rost, A., boot and shoe shop

Snody, D.B., justice of the peace

Stemple, C.V., photographer

Utt, M.S., drugs

Webber, boot and shoe shop

Whitehill, Rev., H.A., United Presbyterian Church
Waltawa, Mrs., miIIinery29

In addition to being home to purveyors of general merchandise, drugs, and hardware, along with

saloons, livery stables and blacksmiths, a number of manufacturers, processors, and distributors located in the

community. Their success was directly dependent on access to the rail transportation network that allowed

them to market their goods nationwide from rural southeastern Missouri. The Lafayette Milling Company

began as a planing mill in 1876, and, three years later, converted to manufacturing flour as the Cuba Roller

Mills. In 1884, the Enterprise Planing Mill began in a two-story, 20 feet by 40 feet building with a capacity of

*  Gazetteer and Business Directory of the New Southwest (St. Louis, MO: United States Directory Publishing Company, 1881), n.p.
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the Hotel Central, on the north side of West Washington between Buchanan and Smith streets, was in
operation. In 1926, the Roberts-Judson Lumber Company constructed the Palace Hotel, across from the depot,
for J.W. Gray. The two-story brick building cost $17,000 and in 1934, in the midst of the Depression, it was
sold at public auction for $8,100. About 1928, Charles Birdell Belden, who served as mayor of Cuba from 1934

to 1938, built the New Central Hotel on Washington Avenue, and operated it until his death in 1953.*"

From its beginnings as a nineteenth-century railroad town, Cuba’s economic fortunes ebbed and
flowed in tune with the fortunes of its transportation networks and its industries, many of which were based
on the exploitation and extraction of the area’s abundant natural resources. Rail shipments data provide
ample measure both of Cuba’s position as a shipping point and a sample of the diverse products that were
shipped from the town. These records indicate that during November, 1887 alone, thirty carloads of wheat,
forty-five tons of iron ore, eight carloads of livestock, and about 200,000 pounds of other products were

shipped from Cuba.

As Cuba was recovering from the Civil War, the local apple industry was born (Fig. 5). Lyman D. Grover
(1843-1925), a Wardsboro, Vermont native who had served in the Civil War from 1861 to 1864, made his way
west after the war and in 1867, planted a small orchard and a vineyard of Concord grapes two miles south of
Cuba. In 1870, Grover sold 30,000 pounds of grapes and in the wake of a significant drop in the price of grapes
the following year, Grover purchased a wine press and sold wine for two years until winemaking, too, proved
unprofitable. Grover turned his talents to his orchard, grafting 130,000 to 140,000 apple trees each year,
keeping about 1,500 two- to three- year-old fruit-bearing trees and 4,000 to 5,000 younger trees and selling
the rest. By 1897, the Grover Orchard and Nursery comprised 30,000 fruit trees and employed a number of
traveling salesmen who were on the road selling the Grover Orchard’s products to regional buyers. In 1897,

Grover shipped the first carload of apples from Cuba to the eastern markets.

' Breuer, Op. Cit., pp. 401-404 and 423-424; also “Palace Hotel Sold for Half Its Cost at Public Auction,” Cuba Review,
January 11, 1934, p. 1.




United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

SectonNo. __E  Page 15 Historic and Architectural Resources of the City of Cuba, Missouri
Crawford County, Missouri

Grover’s success inspired a number of other large growers, among them S.H. Sweetin, Daniel Curtis,
Rainey Anderson, and Halligan Anderson. By 1900, Cuba was the largest producer, processor, and distributor
of apples in Missouri. This success was partly due to Cuba’s proximity to the St. Louis market coupled with the
increasing demand for apples and derivative products. Associated industries related to apple production
developed, including cider mills, producers of applesauce, apple-canning businesses, and, with the invention
of the evaporator, apple driers. In August 1899, Cuba’s evaporator went into operation, employing five men
and twenty-four women, girls, and boys. 1900 was the peak year of apple production. The growth of a
national transportation system including both rail and highway arteries increased the availability of a variety of
fruit from other sources, such as Florida and Central America, and by 1920 the local industry had virtually

vanished and no physical remnants have been identified.*

Other early twentieth-century ventures promoted specialty crops other than apples, while at the same
time additional efforts were under way to extract profits from the extraction of the county’s mineral
resources. In 1902, the same year apple growers organized the Apple Growers’ Association, a Tomato Growers
Association was formed, and a tomato-canning factory was established in Cuba. Also on one day in 1902, Dr.
Walter Sherman Cox, who served as the town doctor for three decades and was also an alderman and mayor,
shipped thirty-five tons of fire clay from Cuba. Cox continued to mine iron ore from 1900 to 1920, likely on a

smaller scale than the aforementioned Scotia Iron Company had attempted.™

Not all industries lasted even as long as Dr. Cox’s mining undertakings. An example of a short- lived
industry is that of W. T. Wightman’s hickory pipe factory, which dated from 1910, was sold in 1913 to Bowman
& Trego, of St. Louis, and folded about 1914, when pipe stems imported from Germany were no longer

available, likely due to the onset of World War .**

" Breuer, Op. Cit., pp. 394, 411-412, and 417; also David R. Hentzel, Apples and Shoes: The Economics of a Small Town (Rolla, MO:
Author, 1988), pp. 1-4; also “50 Years Ago—1899,” Cuba News and Review, August 18, 1949, p. 1; and “Tales of Yesteryear,” Cuba
News and Review, August 25, 1949, p. 6.

% |bid., pp. 403, 411, and 418-421.

* "Cuba Chat. May 15, 1913" and "Cuba Chat. May 20, 1915," Crawford County, Missouri, Newspaper Atticles: 1892, 1910-1914 [n.p.,
1985], unpaged; and Breuer, Op. Cit., pp. 496-497; and A. Manson Munro, History of Cuba, Prepared for the Centennial 1957, pp. 14-
18,
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During this period, the municipal boundaries were expanded both to the north and to the south with
the platting of new subdivisions, primarily residential in nature. Homes built during this period included those
executed in the Queen Anne and Free Classic Queen Anne styles, along with the Colonial Revival and
Craftsman styles, and the I-house and American Foursquare house types, in addition to vernacular houses
built without any reference to particular styles. The term “vernacular” as it is used here conforms to the
definition in Ward Bucher’s Dictionary of Building Preservation: “a building built without being designed by an

735 This term is

architect or someone with similar formal training; often based on traditional or regional forms.
not to be interpreted as a pejorative, since so many more buildings built nearly everywhere reflect local
building traditions and the skill of local builders rather than the work of formally-trained architects.
Representative examples include the c. 1880 John Manson Monroe House at 305 NE Washington Street, the c.
1890 Free Classic Queen Anne-style house of Dr. Gustavus P. C. Herzog, the c. 1890 I-house at 302 NW
Washington Street, the c. 1895 Queen Anne/Eastlake-style house of George E. Hamilton, the c. 1885 Zulpo
family’s I-house at 801 E. Washington with a wrap-around veranda, a Gothic Revival-derived c. 1880 house at
308 N. Hickory, with steeply-pitched gabled wall dormers, the Smith-Kinder House at 909 W. Spencer Street,
first owned by “Lightning Rod” Smith (who made lightning rods) and later of leading downtown businessman
J. C. Kinder, the 1910 Craftsman-style home of telephone operator Kathleen Pevehouse at 302 E. Washington
Street, and the home of Cuba News founder Alexander Monroe at 208 W. Spencer Street, with an unusually
steep hipped roof penetrated by paired steep gable dormers and incorporating a double-gallery porch on the

facade. Institutional architecture from this period includes the diminutive ashlar stone Cuba Jail, built at the

corner of Main and Prairie Streets in 1908.

lll. Cuba and the Farm Economy, 1919-1940

15

Ward Bucher ed., Dictionary of Building Preservation, New York: John Wiley & Sons, 1996, p. 512.
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5,000 feet of lumber per day. In 1888, a new, 40 feet by 60 feet brick building was constructed with additional

machinery and a larger steam engine, which doubled the daily capacity of the mill.

About 1900, the Jean-Hurst-Redfearn poultry business began, and within a single year was shipping
7,427 cases of eggs and one rail carload of poultry a day. The business was later acquired by J. J. Toner, owner
of the Toner Produce Company, which was located in East Cuba, near the railroad depot. Toner also bought
cream butter, eggs, hides, chickens, ducks, and geese, and shipped as many as three refrigerator carloads of

dressed poultry each week to markets in New York and Boston.*°

Early twentieth-century public improvements in Cuba include the installation of sideWalks, required by
an ordinance passed in 1906 during the 1906-1910 term of Mayor William F. “Billy” Mitchell when the
population was approximately 900. During the 1914-1918 mayoral term of Dr. Walter S. Cox, a telephone
system was established and two additions, the Mudd Addition and the Grandview Addition, were made to the

city.

The traveling public, primarily businessmen in the beginning but later tourists as well, required lodging
and hotels became one of Cuba’s earliest and most enduring businesses. The success of the lodging industry
in Cuba was at first attributable to the community’s location on the railroad but later to its siting on a major
federal highway, the legendary Route 66. The 2-story McClay House, one of Cuba’s earliest hotels (not
extant), stood across from the depot and offered fifteen rooms. By the early 1870s the American Hotel was
on the north side of South Smith Street and the Cuba Hotel, was built by Franklin Askins on North Main Street
between Meramec and Wall Streets, the latter building burned in 1943. The Hotel Grand (also known as the
Grand Hotel), was constructed in 1897 at a cost of $10,000, and remains on the north side of the tracks at 603
NW Main Street. The Pease Hotel was at Smith and Washington Streets. The Hotel Eastern (or Great Eastern

Hotel), later renamed the Commercial, was also located across from the depot; it burned in 1922. Also in 1922,

" Breuer, Op. Cit.,pp. 385, 394, 411, and 417; and Goodspeed, Op. Cit., p. 595.
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The relationship of the apple industry to the economy of the community reflected the town’s position
as a regional agricultural marketing center and the rise and fall of Cuba’s economy was closely linked to the
fortunes of the agricultural families it served. The Panic of 1893 and the depression which ensued for the next
three years wreaked havoc on the national economy. As the recovery stabilized the situation, during the first
two decades of the new century the Crawford County apple industry enjoyed boom times and farmers
experienced a new-found prosperity. The value of land and prices for agricultural commodities reached new
highs. Between 1900 and 1910, land doubled in value, and during World War One much of it doubled again.
Between 1901 and 1919, the average price of corn increased from 45 cents per bushel to $1.32 per bushel,
and most other crops increased proportionally. During the same period, horses, mules, and hogs more than
doubled in value, and sheep recorded even larger gains. The value of the state farm crop increased from
$211,011,359 in 1909 to $559,047,854 in 1919. Farm wages almost doubled from the turn of the century to
1920.%% In some cases, census data indicate that individuals listed as “farmers” lived in town, suggesting that
their farms were in outlying areas. Census occupational data typically uses the term “laborer” liberally, and it
is not clear if farm workers lived in town or in rural areas near their workplaces. In any case, for rural towns
and market centers such as Cuba that provided farmers and their families with goods and services, the growth

of the agricultural economy spurred an increase in overall economic stability.

That era of relative prosperity notwithstanding, from 1919 to 1923 American farmers experienced
what historian James H. Shideler cited as a crisis. Shideler (1914-1998) was a leader in the study of agricultural
history and served as the Director of the Agricultural History Center at the University of California at Davis.”’
He described the beginning of an agricultural depression in the early 1920s whose flames were only fanned
with the onset of the Great Depression of the 1930s. The agri-economy and population which it fed were
seriously damaged and the symbiotic relationship between the agricultural economy and the economy at large

was dislodged and forever changed. This also brought about a redefinition of public-sector farm policy.*

14

" Floyd Calvin Shoemaker, Missouri and Missourians: Land of Contrasts and People of Achievements, 5 vols. (Chicago: Lewis
Publishing Company, 1943) 2: 452-454.

¥ Agricultural History 72:3 (1998), p. 601.

" James H. Shideler, Farm Crisis, 1919-1923 (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1957), pp. viiand 1.
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Prices for farm products and land declined sharply after 1919. Farm income per capita plunged from $324.00
in 1912 to $124.00 in 1921. While the ‘twenties were “roaring” for many, the financial stability of the Missouri
farm only deteriorated. Farm production in 1926 was $52 million less than the year before, and the secretary
of the Missouri Board of Agriculture admitted, “there is a grave situation in farm economics, especially in rural
real estate values."** No “quick fix” was forthcoming and, to make matters worse, a widespread drought
struck the state in 1930—the worst such calamity since 1901. This time the Board of Agriculture lamented,

"'"Missouri agriculture has reached the bed-rock bottom."*

At the dawn of the twentieth century, Crawford County was still in transition from open range cattle
ranching. In the upland reaches of the county, current agricultural traditions involved sowing clover among
the wheat crop and turning under the clover sod the second year, followed by planting wheat again, allowing
the clover to reseed itself. Little corn was grown in the uplands, partly due to the effects of the 1901 drought
which were still being keenly felt and many had abandoned oats because of the prevalence of rust, “the most

»41

widespread and damaging disease of oat. Apples assumed a short-lived role as Crawford County’s

predominant specialty crop.*

As the apple industry declined, some agriculturists and entrepreneurs took up the production of
purebred livestock, particularly cattle and hogs. For example, Dr. Charles John V. Mosby, a medical books
publisher from Webster Groves, bought several adjoining farms near Cuba and brought purebred Poland China
hogs to Crawford County, while P. J. Mutra introduced Red Poll cattle. About 1920, some adventurous
agriculturists instituted commercial egg production and at one time as many as eight Cuba businesses were

buying and selling eggs. Again the weather became an economic factor in the fortunes of the area when in

¥ bid., 2:457.

‘ Ibid., 2:458.

" U. S. Department of Agriculture Internet website http:/www.ars.usda.gov/Main/docs.htm?docid=9919, accessed June 28, 2012
* Shideler, Op. Cit., 15-16.



United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

SectionNo. __E  Page 19 Historic and Architectural Resources of the City of Cuba, Missouri
Crawford County, Missouri

1927 a catastrophic hail storm slaughtered thousands of hens and most egg producers were unable to

withstand the financial loss. By 1935, the Crawford County egg industry had virtually vanished from the area.”

For the first five decades of the twentieth century, the size of the average farm in Crawford County was
somewhat larger than the average for the state, likely due to the fact that more substantial acreage was
necessary to scratch out a living in the county’s inferior soils. During that same forty-year span, however, the
value per acre of Crawford County land and buildings did not reach the state average. The zenith of the
number of farms in the county occurred in 1910, when 2,028 farms were in operation, and the nadir occurred
in 1930, with 1,733, representing a decline of 295 farms. In 1925, 58.9 percent of Crawford County’s 478,080
acres were in farm production, while 74.2 percent of the land area of the entire state was being farmed. In
1930, the area of Crawford County in agricultural production fell to 58 percent and by 1935 it had almost

recovered to its 1925 level of 58.7 percent.**

In Crawford County, the per-acre value of farmland and buildings also failed to reach the state average
between the turn of the century and 1940. By way of illustration, in 1900, value of land and buildings per acre
in Crawford County were only $11.70, while the state average was $20.00. In 1920, the year of greatest
agricultural prosperity for the state, Crawford County land and buildings were only worth one-third of the
average farm in Missouri. By 1940, the disproportionate per acre value of the county's farmsteads had

decreased to $19.29, compared to the state average of $32.00.*

With the advent of the Great Depression, the general economy suffered similar crises faced by farmers
for the preceding decade and by 1932, with the Depression in full swing, farm prices stood at their lowest
point in decades. In October of that year, the price of grain had dropped to 36 percent of its value between

1909 and 1914. The price of fruits and vegetables had plunged to 59 percent of the prices during the same

' Munro, Op. Cit., pp. 14-15.

""" Steven E. Mitchell and Mary Aue Mitchell, Survey Report: Cuba, Crawford County, Architectural/Historical Survey (Jefferson City:
Missouri Department of Natural Resources, 2007), p. 18.

“ Ibid.
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period; and meat animals were at 60 percent. The average aggregate price of all farm products stood at 56
percent of pre-World War | prices, while the cost that had to be paid by farmers to secure goods were 7
percent higher than those in the 1909-1914 period and at the same time, in some instances farm taxes had

tripled from the pre-war days.46

The economic calamities of the early 1930s were repeated time and again across the nation. Between
1930 and 1934 more than 18,000 Missouri farms were foreclosed upon, accounting for 2,700,000 acres and
representing real estate valued at $55 million. Only to make matters worse, yet another drought befell the
state in 1934 and according to the Missouri Ruralist, more than 100 million bushels of corn were lost to the

drought, the oats crop was only 10 percent of normal, and pastures were 15 to 20 percent of normal.*’

In 1936, drought struck yet again, accompanied by hordes of grasshoppers which cleaned off crops in
thirty counties. The agricultural assistance and education programs of the New Deal, along with measures to
encourage conservation, did provide some assistance, as did an improvement in the weather. The arrival of
rural electrification, too, accounted for substantial improvements to life and work on the farm. Technological
advances providing for increased agricultural mechanization led to an increase production and<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>